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	 Picture a youth, a hard worker, perhaps 16 or 17 years old, 
sitting in his science classroom listening to a very basic lecture on the 
difference between veins and arteries.  A knock interrupts the lesson 
and the superintendent beckons the young man out to the hall.  After 
a brief conversation the youth returns to the classroom for his books, 
then leaves the building.  Within the hour he is standing next to a bed 
with a patient, helping to “bleed” the ill individual or testing results 
in a lab.  The next day he returns to the same classroom for a similar 
lecture, having worked with those very things the teacher is lecturing 
on.  Later that same week the teacher simply nods as the student 

is once again called from class, this 
time to assist in childbirth, or help 
set a broken bone.
	 Welcome to the early life of 
Dean C. Burns, the father of modern 
healthcare in Petoskey.
	 Dean C. Burns was born on 
December 19, 1896, at the home 
of his parents, Dean S. and Emma 
(Bohm) Burns.  Dean Sr. worked at 
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the Petoskey Cement Co. and served 
as undersheriff to the community, 
but Dean Jr. knew from an early age 
that he wanted to become a doctor.  
His family’s physicians, George and 
John Reycraft, heavily influenced 
Dean, and nine years after they 
delivered him, Dean began his 
medical career serving as an office 
boy for the physicians.  At 15 he 
began an unofficial apprenticeship 

under the two doctors.  While most kids his age were earning money 
as errand boys, Dean was vaccinating people, aiding in surgery, and 
helping to deliver babies.  As an 
apprentice of the Reycrafts, he 
followed the accepted medical 
practices of the day, including 
bleeding people and fumigating 
the homes of the sick.  Medical 
treatments changed immensely 
in the years that Dr. Burns 
practiced, and, over 60 years 
later he wrote, “I’d probably be 
arrested today for some of the 
things I did while assisting the 
Reycrafts.”
	 In 1915 Burns entered 
the University of Chicago; the 
24-hour train ride was his first 
real trip away from home.  His 
schooling was paid for by the 
Parkers, a Cincinnati family 
that summered next door to 
the Burns family.  Perhaps 
they were impressed by his 
work ethic as a young man or 
his pleasant attitude that many 
later patients commented 
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Dean Burns began the pursuit 
of his medical dream as a new 
generation of medical schooling 
came into effect.  No longer were 
future doctors able to go directly 
to medical school with no prior 
higher education; schools now 
required at least one year of 
college education before entering 
medical school, with the strictest, 
such as John Hopkins University, 
requiring an undergraduate 
degree before acceptance.  An 
earlier evaluation of all medical 
schools in the United States 
found a high percentage sadly 
lacking in many areas, resulting 
in the closing of many schools.  
Those that remained open were 
forced to implement “new” ideas 
and better training.  Due to the 
stricter requirements the number 
of doctors actually declined during 
the years of Burns’ schooling.



on.  Whatever the reason, Dean 
didn’t disappoint them.  At school 
Burns was a conscientious 
student, avoiding recruitment 
by the university football coach 
and spending most of his time 
studying.  He worked his way 
through school as a student 
assistant in the biology library, 
aide to a toxicology professor, and 
a nursing instructor, experience 
that would help him years later 
when he began a nursing program 
at North Central Michigan College.  
	 In 1917 Dean enlisted in 
the army.  As a future doctor, 
he could serve in the Medical 
Enlisted Reserve Corps and 
continue his schooling.  At that 
time many medical students were 
encouraged to finish their training 
before being sent overseas.  A 
year later Chicago was crippled 

by the influenza epidemic.  Over 8,500 people died, despite advance 
warnings from the health commissioner and the shutdown of non-
essential establishments.  Experimental vaccinations were given to 
fight the secondary complications that came with the flu, but nothing 
seemed to slow the illness.  Burns and many of his fellow medical 
students ended up on the frontlines of their own battlefield as they 
helped the sick throughout the epidemic.
	 Upon graduation in 1922 Dr. Burns received a tempting offer to 
begin work with Dr. Charles and Dr. Will Mayo at the famous Mayo 
Clinic, the first medical facility to offer an integrated medical practice.  
The Mayo Family practice began offering medical teamwork in 1892 
and soon attracted specialists of all areas to its clinic.  Doctors from all 
over the world came to learn from this respected institution,  similar 
to the one Dr. Burns dreamed of starting in Petoskey.  Loyalty to his 
hometown and the two doctors who had encouraged him made Dr. 
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Dean and Marcella Burns 
Shortly after their marriage

Burns refuse the Mayo fellowship; 
instead he completed a residency 
in surgery at St. Lukes Hospital 
in Chicago and then returned to 
Petoskey, where he became the 
attending surgeon working with 
Drs. Reycraft.
	 Despite Dr. Burns’ desire to 
move ahead with his dream of a 
specialists’ clinic, he respected 
the differing opinions of the 
Reycrafts.  The doctor brothers 
had no use for a clinic when they 
felt perfectly capable of doing 
everything themselves.  Dr. 
Burns did not want to go against 
the Reycrafts’ wishes after all 
they had done for him, and 

waited until after their deaths 
before putting his own plan into 

action.  With encouragement from Dr. Will and Dr. Charles Mayo, 
Burns held fast to his dream.  By age 30 he began buying land on 
which a future hospital could be built.  
	 In 1930 Dr. Burns married nurse Marcella Whalen.  Marcella 
grew up on a farm in Paris, Michigan but moved to Petoskey to attend 
nursing school at Petoskey Hospital.  The couple dated for eight 
years—some of those dates included house calls to patients.  The 
wedding took place at the Emmanuel Episcopal Church (then located 
at the corner of Waukazoo and Mitchell streets) early in the morning 
so they could be at the train station by 8:00 a.m.  They honeymooned 
at a medical convention. After marriage Marcella stopped nursing, 
but she never stopped caring for and helping others.  She raised their 
three children, spoiled their grandchildren, and still found time to 
offer assistance to friends and those in need.  She often dropped off 
unexpected gifts of cookies and made little things for birthday parties.  
Her daughter-in-law remembered Marcella’s caring nature, saying 
that if you had to be sick, you “wanted to be sick at her [Marcella’s] 
house” because she took such good care of you.  
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	 Marcella was well loved by the community for her acts of 
kindness and warm personality.  She supported her husband’s 
vision and dedication, always standing beside him and helping from 
the background.  Years later Dr. Burns would thank her and their 
children for their long suffering throughout a career that required 
him to be away from them so often.  Marcella spent her entire life 
serving others with a cheerful heart, and the entire community was 
saddened by her death in 1986.  
	 Less than 3 months after Dean and Marcella’s wedding, Dr. 
John Reycraft died; his brother George had passed away several 
years earlier.  Dr. Burns founded the Burns Clinic and began putting 
his dream into reality.  While eager to begin, he did not want to 
“scare away” patients by adding a doctor in an unfamiliar field, so he 
began searching for a non-intimidating area of medicine.  In July of 
1931 the first specialist, ophthalmologist William Conway, joined the 
clinic, which still met at the old Petoskey Hospital of the Reycrafts.  
Eventually the clinic moved to a new location on Howard Street over 
the Eckel Drugstore.  Dr. Burns later wrote, “Although the clinic was 
definitely planned long before my return to Petoskey, it was formally 
accomplished with the acquisition of Dr. Conway’s services, and I 
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have accordingly considered that date as the beginning of my planned 
specialty group.”  
	 One major difficulty that Dr. Burns faced had nothing to do 
with fearful patients or disbelieving “old-school” doctors; the year 
was 1931 and the Great Depression had hit the United States.  Many 
patients could only repay Dr. Burns’ services with chickens, maple 
syrup, or services of their own. While the economy did temporarily 
halt the growth of the clinic, Dr. Burns’ dream refused to be defeated 
and in 1938, seven years after the hiring of Dr. Conway, internist 
Dr. Benjamin Blum became the second specialist to join the clinic.  
Soon after Blum’s arrival, the 68-bed Little Traverse Hospital opened 
its doors on the property Dr. Burns had purchased for that purpose.  
Over the next five years the clinic grew, adding pediatricians George 
Maksim and Mary McLeod, urologist A.J Hegener, obstetrician 
Kathryn Weburg, and internist Harris Lilga.
	 While Dr. Burns donated the property on which Little Traverse 
Hospital was built, other donors played a large part in its formation.  
The following story was taken from Intensive Caring, The Story of 
Northern Michigan Hospital, written by Marci Singer.
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	 In 1937 Mrs. Sally Coleman, a summer resident, 
visited the Petoskey Hospital to see a sick friend.  Once 
there, she discovered that the stairs were too steep for her 
to climb and that there was no passenger elevator.  Alerted 
to Mrs. Coleman’s dilemma, Dr. Burns left his office and 
escorted her to the hand-operated freight elevator.  She 
came down the same way.  Later, in a bridge game with 
her three friends, Mrs. Coleman described her visit to the 
Hospital.  “Dr. Burns needs a new hospital.”  Her friends 
agreed, and each pledged $1,000.

	 Coleman used her contacts well and got in touch with Chicago 
businessman Joseph Otis, who contacted his friends.  Between their 
donations and other fundraising, $300,000 was raised to open the 
doors of Little Traverse Hospital.  Dr. Burns served as the chief of 
staff for the hospital for over 20 years.
	 It would have been easy at this point for Dr. Burns to take a 
step back and celebrate his accomplishment.  After all, he had been 
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instrumental in bringing a quality hospital and several specialists to 
his hometown, making many sacrifices along the way.  He worked 
hard to guarantee fair salaries and benefits for his fellow doctors and 
personally paid for several pieces of medical equipment to lighten 
the financial burdens on the new hospital.  He deserved to relax and 
enjoy the fruits of his labor.  A normal man would have done just 
that.
	 But Dr. Burns was a dreamer, a visionary.  When Little Traverse 
Hospital became a reality, he continued to find ways to improve the 
hometown that he loved.  He founded the Burns Foundation in 1947 
to promote and fund educational research and community projects.  
While this foundation helped in many areas—including schools 
and libraries—one of its most significant contributions was to lay 
the groundwork for Northern Central Michigan College in 1958.  Dr. 
Burns served on the Board of Trustees for the college until his death 
nearly 20 years later.
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Dr. Dean C. Burns
(Little Traverse Hospital, cornerstone ceremony, August, 1938)
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	 Dr. Burns’ interest in education could be seen by anyone who 
visited his home.  Both he and Marcella were avid readers and kept 
their nightstands piled high with books.  The books were not limited 
to medical tomes; Dr. Burns read fiction, history, science fiction, and 
many other genres, perhaps as an easily accessible escape from the 
difficult and often emotionally draining work he did.
	 In 1954 Dr. Burns saw his boyhood dream come full circle.  
A two-story extension was constructed on the south side of Little 
Traverse Hospital where specialists could hold office hours.  Burns 
Clinic, a clinic of specialists first dreamed of nearly 40 years earlier, 
had developed from Dr. Burns and one ophthalmologist into a facility 
that offered specialized care by numerous doctors in nearly every 
area of medicine.  Dr. Burns served the first year without salary, 
knowing the financial difficulties the inaugural year could bring.  He 
needn’t have worried; the clinic itself served the community for 45 
years before closing down in 1999.  The building still holds offices for 
the many specialists that have been attracted to the Petoskey area 
through Dr. Burns’ dedication.

	 Dr. Burns retired in 1962 but 
continued to give to the community, 
serving as a trustee at the college, 
member of Michigan’s Coordinating 
Council for Public Higher Education 
(1962-68), and president of the 
Michigan Association of Community 
College Trustees (1968-70).  He 
received awards and honors from 
Michigan to Great Britain, including 
election to the Fellowship Royal 
Society of Health in 1971 and a 
resolution by the Michigan Senate 
in 1978 honoring him as one of 
Michigan’s most illustrious sons.  
But perhaps one of the most valued 
was given close to home: in gratitude 
for all he had given his hometown, 
Petoskey declared August 16, 1973, 
Dr. Dean Burns Day. 
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	 Dean Burns, father of modern medicine in Petoskey and the 
surrounding areas, died February 9, 1978.  While his clinic has long 
since closed, his vision for attracting top doctors to the area is still 
alive.  He put his life behind his dream of creating quality medical 
care for Northern Michigan, continuing to believe when others said it 
wasn’t possible.  His contributions in medicine and education have 
reached far beyond the Petoskey borders and continue to benefit 
people from all over Michigan and beyond today.
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Aerial photo - Northern Michigan Hospital
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Dr. Dean C. and Marcella Burns
Portrayed by Bob White and Noreen Tarquini
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Continued
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Little Traverse Hospital and Burns Clinic Staff - 1940
Back Row - Dr. Allan Hegener, Dr. Harris Lilga

Front Row - Dr. William Conway, Dr. Dean Burns, Dr. Ben Blum
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	 This map shows the new location of US 31 and 131 from Charlevoix avenue  
to Liberty street on Petoskey’s West Side.  The new pavement is marked  
by the heavy black lines.  The old route of the trunklines is shown by  
cross-hatched marking.  Dr. Burns was extremely pleased that the highway was 
changed to allow easier access for patients and visitors to the new hospital.
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Hospital property - before construction

Hospital groundbreaking - May 23, 1938
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Aerial Photo - Little Traverse Hospital - 1947
Notice the Hospital just has the South wing, the North wing has not been  

added yet, there is no Clinic building, There is a driveway under the South 
wing to what appears to be a garage area.  The Nurse’s home is in the center 

towards the Lake and there is a home to the left of that.
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